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IN THE SUPREME COURT UF THE UNITED STATES

----------------------------------------------------------------------------x

HARTE-HANKS COMMUNICATIONS» INC.» •

Petitioner :

v. ; No. 8 8-10

DANIEL CONNAUGHTON J

——— ---------------------------—-----------------------------------x

Washington» D.C. 

Monday» March 20» 1^8*9 

The ab ove-enti11ed matter came on tor oral argument 

before the Supreme Court of the United States at 11#51 

o'clock a.m.

APPEARANC ES ;

LEE LEVINE» ESQ.» Washington» D.C.; on behalf of the 

Petl ti oner.

JOHN A. LLOYD» JR.» ESQ.» Cincinnati» Ohio» on oehalf of 

the Respondent.
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JOHN A LLOYC, JR. , ESQ.
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PROCEEDINGS

L1«3L 3 • ID •

CHIEF JUSTICE RfcHNQUIST* We' tl hear argument 

next In No. 88-10» Harte-hanks Communications v. 

Connaught on .

Mr. Levine» you may proceed whenever you're

ready.

ORAL ARGUMENT OF LEE LEVINE 

ON BEHALF OF PETITIONER

MR. LEVINE; Mr. Chief Justice» and may it 

D lease th e Cour t:

Twenty-five years ago this month in New York 

Times v. Sullivan this Court articulated the central 

meaning of the First Amendment. It held that If freedom 

of speech and freedom of the press mean anything in a 

democracy, it is that criticism of puolic officials and 

candidates for public office must be free.

In this case» a S20U,000 judgment has been 

entered against a newspaper because it published 

statements critical of a candidate for public office in 

the midst of a ho 11 y-co n tes te o election campaign.

We submit that this judgment» that the court 

of appeals decision affirming a jury's finding that tnis 

speech Is unworthy of constitutional protection can be 

affirmed only ignoring the three fundamental safeguards

3
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of political speech articulated in New York Times.

First» that only expression published with 

actual malice -- that is» despite a high degree of 

awareness of its probable falsity — is beyona the scope 

of Constitutional protection.

QUESTION; Did the Sixth Circuit here say 

there was actual malice?

MR. LEVINE; It held that a jury could have 

found actual malice.

OliESTION; And you disagree with that?

MR. LEVINE; We disagree with both the 

contention that Its standard of review was limited to 

what the jury could have found and with the conclusion 

that the evidence revealed — tnat the evidence In the 

record reveals actual malice.

The second requirement of New York Times is 

the proof —

QUESTION; Excuse me. Didn't they go further 

than just saying the jury could have found actual 

maI ice? I thought they found that the jury could have 

found certain facts» and if the jury found those facts* 

then there was actual malice.

Didn't they make that judgment themselves* 

that if these facts existed» there was in their own view 

actual ma I i ce?

A
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MR. LEVINES Justice Scalia* they aoded --

QUESTION; That's how I understood it» anyway.

MR. LEVINES Justice Scalia* they aaded 

another step in there. After tney found the facts* they 

drew all conceivable inferences —

QUESTION; Right.

MR. LEVINE; — from those facts —

QUESTION; Right.

MR. LEVINE; — In favor of the jury's verdict.

QUESTION; But then taking all those facts ana 

the favorable inferences» they made their own judgment» 

given those facts and Inferences* that there was actual 

malice didn't tney?

MR. LEVINE; That is correct. And that Is — 

that is In fact the guts of this case» the third point» 

the third safeguard of free expression identified in New 

York Times. That is the obligation of appellate courts 

to undertake a review of the entire recora» not simply 

the evidence favoring the defendant -- or» the 

plaintiff» and make an independent judgment* drawing its 

own inferences from the recora evidence.

QUESTION; Mr. Levine» the problem I have in 

applying this standara is what should the Court do where 

credibility of witnesses is crucial?

MR. LEVINE; Justice —

5

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC.
20 F ST., N.W., WASHINGTON, D.C. 20001 (202) 628-9300



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

QUESTION; what standard of appellate review 

should be applied to subsidiary facts when credibility 

i s cruc ia I?

MR. LEVINES Justice O'Connor» as this Court 

held in Bose» the standard of Independent review 

requires that courts give due regard to the ability of 

factfinders» be they juries or trial judges» to observe 

demeanor and make credibility assessments. In this case 

s pe c I fIca I I y —

QUESTION; well» what does that mean? Does, it 

mean that ycu -- if it rests on credibility» there is no 

review by the appellate court.

• MR. LEVINES With respect to purely —

QUESTION; Right?

MR. LEVINE; With respect to purely factual 

findings» Justice White. If there is disputed evidence 

in the record on an issue of material fact» we would say 

that in the typical case you are required to defer to 

the jury's credibility findings. Let me summarize —

QUESTION; was it error to let this go to the

jury?

MR. LEVINE; Your Honor» I am unfamiliar with 

the record as It stood at the time that — you're 

talking about — at a directea verdict stage?

QUESTION; Well» after the close of all the

6
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evidence* should the judge have let this go to the jury?

MR. LEVINE; I do not think the judge should 

have let this go to the jury. 1 think —

QUESTION; That has to be your position.

MR. LEVINE; I think that’s right. I think a 

directed verdict should have Deen granted in this case.

The material facts can be summarized as 

fallows. The Respondent Daniel Connaughton was a 

candidate for the elected office of Municipal Court 

Judge In the November 1983 elections in —

QUESTION; 1 take It you thinK* then* the 

district judge in trying the case should — shoula 

independently review the evidence rather than let the 

appellate court have that duty?

MR. LEVINE; If at the directed vercict stage* 

as Justice Kennedy was pointing out* the district court 

looks at the evidence and decides that —

QUESTION; Should not — should not* in a case 

like this* draw the inferences in favoring the Plaintiff?

MR. LEVINE; It should resolved disputed 

Issues of material fact in favor of the Plaintiff. But 

taking those — those purely factual findings* it should 

make its own independent determination concerning 

whether or not there is actual malice.

QUESTION; which — which -- but that means —

7
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but that means maning its — drawing its own inferences 

from the historical facts.

MR. LEVINE; From the historical facts. Yes* 

that i s c or rect .

QLESTION; Even though the Jury might — even 

though there might be arguments about what the right 

inf er ence s are ?

MR. LEVINE; That's correct because* as this 

Court recognizea in the Bose decision and in New York 

Times before it* in some cases where the very drawing, of 

those inferences lead to make up the process of judgment 

through which the ultimate finding is made* you can't 

defer It to the findings ana inferences that the jury 

could have crawn. You have to draw your own or else 

you're eliminating the process of judgment entirely.

QUESTION; So* in order to work the system 

that you're urging upon us* we have to — and every 

district judge would have to — determine where fact 

leaves off and inference Degins. That's crucial because 

you accept — you accept what the jury might find on 

fact. You give all the benefit of the doubt to the 

plaintiff on fact. But on inference you make your own 

judgment.

MR. LEVINt; That's correct.

QUESTION; So* that's the crucial distinction,

8
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the difference Detween fact and inference.

MR. LEVINE; That's where I would draw the 

line» You r hono r . I —

QUESTION; Do you think that's a clear line?

MR. LEVINE; I ao not tnink it's a clear line

I n —

QUESTION; 1 don't either.

MR. LEVINE; — all cases and It's —

QUESTION; what's tne basis for any sort of 

I ine ther e?

MR. LEVINE; Because at some point in the 

process» from the ultimate conclusion of actual malice 

at the one end» to the pure historical facts — did a 

meeting take place at a certain date — at the other 

end» somewhere along that line robbing an appellate 

court or a reviewing court of the ability to oraw Its 

own inferences necessarily predetermines the result.

QUESTION; Ukay. What's the difference — 

under your test» the difference between an inference and 

a factual deduction?

MR. LEVINE; I think that it's hard because 

you're dealing with labels. And what I might call a 

factual deduction someone else might call an inference.

QUESTION; well» then, what's tne use of your

test?

9
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MR. LEVINE: Because it seems to me that in 

the basic case, and virtually all cases, where a 

historical fact — a what-happenea Rind of fact — is 

susceptible to an inference that is reasonable ana 

apparent, the reviewing court, whether it — whether the 

mental process it goes through is, "I'm exercising my 

own judgment" or "I'm deferring to the jury's finaing" 

is in 99 percent of the cases going to come up with the 

exact same ceclsfon.

But if you — if you start going oown tne Line 

where you defer to the jury findings or what the jury 

could have founo on inferences, you're going to 

eliminate the process of judgment.

QUESTION: 1 taKe it you then think that

essentially in this kind of a case, malice or not, it 

can never be a question of tact. It should be treatea 

as a question of law and never presented to the jury.

MR. LEVINEJ No, I con't believe that's right, 

Your Honor, for two reasons. First of all, factual 

issues do gc into the determination of the actual malice 

quest ion.

QLESTI0NJ Yeah, I know. But I would just 

want to maybe have a — just present to the jury a set 

of instructions as to why we're having to just deal with 

h i s to r I ca I f ac t s .

LU
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MR. LEVINE; It may in tact be cleaner and 

easier to do it that way.

QUESTION; Well* why don't you (inaudible) 

that judge then (inaudible).

MR. LEVINE; But there is — there is another 

issue. And that is in many cases the jury will serve as 

a safeguard for free expression. We don't want to give 

unfettered authority to either the jury or the judge to 

decide that expression may be penalized.

QUESTION; Well* okay. Then so the 

Constitution requires that a jury give an independent 

review of a Judge's decision.

QUESTION; We'll resume at 1.00.

(Whereupon, at 12;00 o'clock noon, oral 

argument in tne a bo ve-entitIeo matter was recessed, to 

reconvene at i;U0 o'clock p.m., this same day.)

1 i

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC.
20 F ST., N.W., WASHINGTON, D.C. 20001 (202) 628-9300



i

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

AFTERNOON SESSION

QUESTION; You may proceed, Mr. Levine.

MR. LEVINE; Mr. Chief Justice, may it please

the Courts

The central difficulty with the court of 

appeals decision in this case is that it eviscerates 

both the clear and convincing evidence standard and the 

rule of Independent review set forth in New York Times.

It does so by requiring reviewing courts to defer to all 

conceivable inferences supporting the jury's verdict*.

Under the court of appeals analysis, a 

reviewing court is required to do that even if other 

inferences, in its own view, are more reasonable or more 

justified. The court of appeals has, therefore, erected 

a presumption of actual malice in every case. it has 

mandated to finding the cumulated inferences that a 

reviewing court Is required to find will ado up to clear 

and convincing evidence. And it has rendered the 

Constitutional obligation of independent review a mirage.

Independent review is not independent If a 

reviewing court is required to defer to all findings of 

fact a jury could have made and then draw all 

conceivable inferences from those findings in favor of 

the Jury's ver diet.

Independent review does not encompass tne

12
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entire record if» as the court of appeals held, a 

reviewing court is required to ignore all eviaence 

favoring the defendant» even undisputed evidence.

An independent review is not review at ail» 

not in any neaningful sense» if a reviewing court is 

required to defer to an array of hypothetical subsidiary 

facts that a jury could have found. So viewed» the very 

process of judgrrent tne Rule of Independent Review 

presupposes disappears.

In fact» it predetermines tne result ana it 

eliminates the process of judgment entirely.

QUESTION; How ooes one go about separating 

out the facts that the jury has found from the 

inferences? I mean» a particular proposition may be 

established as a fact or it -- from a fact which a jury 

rejected — it might have been an inference from that 

fact. Or» it might have been independently found as a 

fact rather than as an inference from another fact.

How is — How is the reviewing court to tell?

I mean» you say he has to accept all the findings of 

fact that the jury made. How do you Know which findings 

of fact they made? All you know is a verolct.

MR. LEVINE; I’m coming to the view, Justice 

Scalia, that our language doesn't give us the proper 

labels to put on these things so that we can Know which

13
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Is which. And» as the Court has pointed out on several 

occasions» I think we sometime put the lapel on after

the fact to decide — to Justify the result that we've
*

arrived at.

But I think that in this case wnat we're 

talking about in the words of the Bose ae c i s i on are the 

purely factual findings. The testimony in the record» 

what the documents say. If there Is a dispute about 

those facts» did a meeting take place?

As in this case» for instance. There is ,, 

testimony from the mother of the young woman who was the 

source of the article at issue» saying that the morning 

after this all-night interview she came home with her 

sister ana she and her sister talked about how they had 

been promised jobs ano trips and vacations. The other 

sister» Patsy Stephens» got on the stand at the trial 

and denied that that ever happened.

What I'm submitting is that that's the kind of 

fact» where there is disputed testimony on both sides* 

where the reviewing court is required to in most cases 

assume that the jury found that those statements were 

never made to the mother.

QLESTION; (Inaudible.)

LEVINE. I think it's not so much the 

Seventh Amendment» Your Honor» as it is the fact that

1*
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the jury has the ability in this case to observe the 

witnesses* to observe their demeanor.

QUESTION; The Seventh Amendment has no 

bearing on the issues?

MR. LEVINE. In this case I think It does 

not. In the typical civil case* yes* it does. But here 

where you're talking about essentially an issue of 

Constitutional law —

QUESTION; Well* in (inaudible) Seventh 

Amendment Is put aside? ,

MR. LEVINE; Only with respect to the Issue of 

actual malice* Your Honor.

QUESTION; You're talking about two 

Constitutional provisions. One is the First Amendment 

and the other Is the Seventh Amendment.

MR. LEVINE; Your Honor* this Court has twice 

expressly been presented with that argument* both in New 

York Times and in Bose* and has twice expressly rejected 

It. And I think that that's quite right. First of all* 

you have to keep in mind that we're only talking about 

facts found by a jury that are relevant to the actual 

malice inquiry. Not to the array of other facts that 

are relevant in libel cases. Was It oefamatory? Was it 

published? Was it capable of a defamatory meaning?

Were there carnages?

lb

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC.
20 F ST., N.W., WASHINGTON, D.C, 20001 (202) 628-9300



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

We're not suggesting at all the the Seventh 

Amendment doesn't apply to those issues.

QUESTION; (Inaudible.)

MR. LEVINE. This Court has never reached that 

Issue» Justice White» and it's a tough issue. There is 

an argument to be made anu one that I would support» 

that the issues of truth and falsity and actual malice 

are so intertwined that you can't decide one without the 

other.

But that issue has never been here before. r 

The issue of actual malice» which Is the issue in this 

case» has been here before twice» and the Court has held 

that the Seventh Amendment does not bar a reviewing 

court from undertaking independent review.

QLEST10N; hell» New York Times wouldn't have 

involved the Seventh Amendment» would it? Because 1 

thought that cane from a state court.

MR. LEVINE. Your Honor» the decisions of this 

Court are clear that —

QUESTION! Well — just a minute. 1 thought 

you said just a moment ago that in two cases» this Court 

had confronted a conflict between the Seventh Amendment 

and the First Amendment» one of those cases being New 

York Times and the other Deing Bose. And in both cases 

they'd rulec in favor of the First Amendment. has that

lb
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your stat ement?

MR. LEVINE; Yes, sir.

QUESTION; Ana was that — was that true? Dio 

that come — dio New York Times come from a federal 

court?

MR. LEVINE; Your Honor, it came from a state

court.

QUESTION; Then how could the Seventh 

Amendment been involved?

MR, LEVINE; There is a case in this CourtVs 

jurisprudence cal lea Chicago B£Q Railroad v. Chicago — 

City of Chicago — in which this Court expressly held 

that, with respect to the second clause of the Seventh 

Amendment, the one that's at issue here, that cases 

coming ud from state courts for purposes of review are 

governed by the Seven th Amendment.

And, in fact, that oral argument in tne New 

York Times Justice Goldberg asked counsel for the 

respondent when he raised that very issue with the 

Seventh Amendment — how coulo apply here — and was 

cited to that case.

QUESTION. So we've held the Seventh Amenament 

does apply to state courts in some situations?

MR. LEVINE; Yes, we have -- you have, Your

Honor.

17
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ILau g nter. )

MR. L EVINfcS Arui — And» indeed» In the 

footnote in New York Times in which that proposition was 

rejecteo — the proposition that the Seventh Amendment 

posed any conflict with the First Amendment in actual 

malice determinations — the Court acknowledged that the 

Seventh Amendment did apply to that case.

New» there is another unwarranted byproduct to 

the court of appeals' decision. And that is that it 

necessarl ly credits as determinative evidence of actual 

malice» evidence of little» if any» prooative value on 

the Issue of actual malice. Such as evidence that a 

newspaper competes for circulation with other media.

That it editorially --

QUESTION; Did the court — did the court 

define actual malice for the jury to include reckless 

disregard?

MR. LEVINE; The trial court gave the 

definition of actual malice to the jury in its charge 

that included reckless disregard. Yes» Justice Kennedy.

QUESTION; So we're talking about really 

reckless disregard?

MR. LEVINE; In this case I believe my 

opponent has suggested that there Is direct evidence of 

an admission of knowledge of falsehood» but I think in

lb
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fairness this case is really about whether the 

circumstantial evidence in the record adds up to 

reckless disregard for the truth. We think that under 

any standard of review» even a clearly erronecus 

standard* the evidence in this record is insufficient* 

as Judge Guy held In his dissent from the court of 

appeals' opinion* to justify a finding of actual malice.

QUESTION; But* Mr. Levine* can I come back to 

your precise example of what's a finding of fact? About 

the meeting that occurred the next morning ana what 

occurred at that meeting — you said that would have 

been a finding of fact.

What about other statements that Thompson made 

that are not contradicted? There -- there is no 

evidence contra a I ct i ng them. But the jury* knowing that 

Thompson Med about this other one — aoout whether the 

meeting occurred — and about another number of other 

things on which there was conflicting testimony* the 

Jury says* "We don't believe Thompson at all* and we 

reject everything that Thompson said."

New* how does the court of appeals handle 

that? Is that a — Is that an inference from the other 

findings of facts? Since she lied five times* we assume 

she lied seven times. I suppose that's an inference.

MR. LEVINE; Your Honor* the answer to that

IS
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question aepends on who has the burden of proof in the 

case* In this case, the Plaintiff has the burden of 

proof. It not only has the burden of proof, but by 

clear and convincing evidence.

If the Plaintiff put on evidence ano hao 

witnesses or the possibility of witnesses within its 

subpoena power or control that it could have put on to 

contradict what Thompson had to say, 1 would grant you 

that in r ev iew I ng —

QLESTIOh; well, no, out it didn't. The re..is 

no contradictory evidence. I cannot — I cannot, as an 

appellate judge, look at the fact that she was 

contradicted five times in what she said. She said two 

other things that weren't contradicted, but I can't 

assume, wel I, you know, the jury thought she was lying 

five times, they must have though that she couldn't be 

relied on at all and therefore they didn't believe her 

the other two. I can't do that.

MR. LEVINE; In this case what we're 

suggesting is that a reviewing court is not 

automatically required to discount that testimony on the 

basis that it Is required to defer to a Jury finding 

that she wasn't believed.

We say, though, an independent review 

encompasses the entire record. It gives the reviewing
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court the r ight to look at that evidence* assuming that 

the other party had the burden of proof of proving those 

facts and proving the ultimate Issue of actual malice.

The evidence that the court of appeals 

credited in this case* competing with other media, 

endorsing editorially tne Plaintiff's opponent* and 

falling to investigate as thoroughly as the Plaintiff 

might have preferred prior to publication — that 

evidence* this Court has repeatedly hela* is of tenuous 

If any probative value with respect to a motive to 

falsify.

Yet* the court of appeals' decision 

effectively requires a reviewing court to draw an 

inference of actual malice from such testimony in every 

case in which a jury is found in favor of a political 

candidate and against a newspaper. In such cases* the 

newspaper literally starts out with three strikes 

against It because it will always compete with some 

other media, it will virtually always endorse canoidates 

for public office, and it will always be subject to 

second-guessing when the scope of its investigation -- 

not whether it investigated at all — judged by 20/20 

hindsight.

But the issue in this case is not the abstract 

relevance of these categories of circumstantial evidence
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to the actual malice inquiry. It is* ratner* whether 

the court of appeals analysis which requires that this 

evidence be creaited in every single case Is consistent 

with the Rule of lnoependent Review.

It most surely is not. The independent review 

con temp lateo by New York Times ana by Bose is in this 

Court's own words de novo review. It calls on courts to 

make a uniauely constitutional judgment» a judgment 

about whether expression is protected by the First 

Amendment . ,,

T c do that* a court must review the entire 

record* incluoing undisputed evidence favoring the 

defendant. To do that* a reviewing court must draw its 

own inferences from the recora evidence and not defer to 

an array of hypothetical subsidiary facts that a jury 

could have found.

This Court has been making such determinations 

and exercising such independent review in First 

Amendment cases since at least its 1927 decision in 

Fiske v. Kansas. Such review Is not only within the 

legitimate power of appellate courts* it is a 

constitutional obligation placed upon appellate courts 

by the First Amendment itself.

Question; hr. Levine* you place a great deal 

of confidence in the Bose case* don't you?
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MR» LEVINE; Yes» I do» Your Honor.

QUESTIONS I must confess I'm a I ittle puzzled 

as to why you need it» from your point of view» And 

maybe you do. Do you concede that the article was false?

MR. LEVINE; Your Honor» for purposes of this 

proceeding we concede that it is susceptible to a 

defamatory interpretation which Is false. Yes.

QUESTION; It was?

MR. LEVINE; We're conceding it for this 

purpose. There was an issue submitted to the jury aao 

they found that. But» Your Honor» I agree with you 

emphatically. That even under a clearly erroneous 

standard of review» as Juoge Guy held in dissent from 

the court of appeals' opinion» this judgment can't stand.

QUESTION; Suppose the bose case were not on 

the books» not decided» what would you be arguing?

MR. LEVINE; I woula have no trouble arguing 

that New York Times Itself very clearly and expressly 

says that appellate courts have a constitutional 

obligation to undertake Just the kind of independent 

review that Bose talks about.

I r my view and in the Court's own view in — 

all Bose does Is reaffirm New York Times. It doesn't 

extend it. It doesn't grant the press any more r ights 

than they had under New York Times v. Sullivan. Ana

2 J
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that's because New York Times teaches tnat the actual 

malice stancard by itself doesn't provide sufficient 

protection against jury verdicts erroneously punishing 

protected expression.

The Rule of Independent review ana the actual 

malice stancard are inextricably intertwined.

QUESTION: I guess what I'm saying is I think

you have stronger case without Bose and you don't have 

to rely on Bose. But» go ahead» do it your own way.

HR. LEVINE: Your Honor, New York Times , 

teaches us that the line separating protected from 

unprotected expression» which is what New York Times 

talks about, is a more difficult, a more sensitive line 

to draw than that that's in the typical civil case 

separating protected from — permissible from culpable 

conduct.

We regularly assign to juries trie task of 

distinguishing, for example, negligent from responsible 

driving. Bet the First Amendment withholos from the 

civil Jury final authority to hola the political 

speeches not worthy of protection by the First 

Amendment. That task is assigned to appellate courts 

through the process of independent appellate review.

Host seriously litigated Noel cases like this 

one don't involve readily ascertainable matters of truth

2
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or falsity. They deal» instead» with the quite 

debatable implications of conflicting versions of 

controver tec events.

It is because of this reality that hew York 

Times olaces upon the Plaintiff the affirmative burden 

of proving by clear and convincing evidence that 

expression is unworthy of First Amendment protection.

The burden —

QUESTIONS Mr. Levine» why — why is it so 

Insubstantial a protection to accept jury facts and ,, 

inferences and then apply that New York Times rule? For 

example» on the malice issue» if I applied that rule to 

the facts and inferences here» I wouldn't fine malice 

just — Just from tne fact that this was a competing 

newspaper and it favored the other political candidate.

I wouldn't say that tne facts and inferences 

that are derivable from this record would show» In my 

judgment» clearly and convincingly that this newspaper 

really went out to tell a lie.

Or the other question, that Is, whether they 

were careless enough to be reckless about whether it was 

true or false, that's a much closer question.

Put don't you exaggerate it by saying that 

it's no protection whatever? Especially since the New 

York Times stancard Is clear ana convincing evidence of

2b
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malice? Even if you took all the facts and all the 

Inferences from the jury nere» woulo you acknowledge 

that there was clear and convincing evidence that your 

client» in order to gain a cornoetitive advantage over 

another newspaper» in order to hurt a political 

candidate they didn't like» intentionally lieo?

MR. LEVINE! In this case» Your Honor» no.

QLESTIOn; well» I think so» too.

MR. LEVINE! But — But we're lucky here» Your 

Honor» for the following reason. We've got a tape 

recording. We've got a tape recording of an interview 

with the Plaintiff in which the Plaintiff concedes that 

these subjects were discussed» that these conversations 

took place» that what our primary source said had the 

ring of truth.

When you put that tape recording into the mix» 

all the Inferences that would need to be drawn to get 

the clear and convincing proof of actual malice get cut 

off. And I agree with you» that no jury coulc have 

found clear and convincing evidence of actual maI ice on 

this record.

In the typical case, I'm not so sure that 

other defendants are going to be that lucky. And if you 

don't have that evidence which a — which a court can 

reach out and tcuch, you're not going to nave the

2b
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ability» without drawing your own inferences» to protect 

speech that ought to be protected by the f- i r s t Amendment.

If I couta reserve the rest of my time.

OLESTIONJ Very well» Mr. Levine.

Mr. Lloyd.

ORAL ARGUMENT OF JOHN A. LLUYC 

ON BEHALF OF RESPONDENT

MR. LLOYD; Mr. Chief Justice» ana may it 

please th e Cou r t •

Let me speak first to the Issue of whether^it 

was proper for any court» the jury» the trial court» or 

this Court» to consider whether the motive of a 

newspaper is one of the kinds of circumstantial evidence 

that bear upon the question of actual malice. That's 

all we've said.

And this Court indicated that in Butts ana the 

panel majority in Tavoulareas also reemphasized it. All 

we say about the motive to compete against the Enquirer 

and to protect the incumbent judge» that it is a kind of 

circumstantial evidence which» combined with all the 

circumstantial evidence In the record and the direct 

evidence of actual malice» adds up to — enough to 

constitute clear and — excuse me — clear anc 

convincing evidence of actual malice.

New» let me next talk about that line of cases

21

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC.
20 F ST., N.W., WASHINGTON, D.C. 20001 (202) 628-9300



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

that my colleague believes justifies a Kind of 

Independent review that he would have appel late courts 

engage in In public figure I i oe l cases.

The cases* beginning with Fisne -- 

QUESTIONS Including the trial judge?

MR. LLOYD; Including the trial judge. The 

line of cases* beginning with Fishe, involving whether 

there was a clear and present danger* whether material 

appeals of prurient interest. I'll give you another — 

whether the evidence shows there is jury segregation..

All of those cases involve objective 

auestions. Whereas in here* in this case* the question 

is — the question is what was in the mino of the 

publisher of the matter when he decided to put it in 

circulation. A purely subjective question.

Beyono that* those questions* those cases tnat 

he would invoke In support of his position* involve only 

the ultimate question* not — in none of those cases did 

the Court say that exhaustive Independent review Dy 

appellate courts of the recoro was justified. Ana so 

that we're ceaI ing with different Kind of animals. 

Indeed* Chief Justice Rehnqulst in his dissenting 

opinion In Bose under which we made reference in the 

brief* noted the vast distinction between that line of 

cases and this Kind of case wnere the subjective

2b
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auestion is much more difficult to answer than an 

objective question where a clear ana present Ganger 

exists.

New» I think the record in this case —

0LESTICN1 Mr. Lloyd —

MR. LLOYD! — alsposes of —

QUESTION! May I as* you just one question —

MR. LLOYD; Yes» Justice Stephens.

QUESTION; — on this subjective point.

You're clearly —> I think you're clearly correct wheru 

you're asking whether there was actual knowledge of 

falsity. That would be purely a subjective inquiry.

But if you're asking whether — given what the . 

record shows the newspaper knew at the time, whether 

that constitutes reckless disregard, that's certain — 

It's arguably an objective inquiry, isn't it?

MR. LLOYD; Well, there always is in this 

sense, and as Justice White taught us In St. Amant» 

where someone claims that he acted in goou faitn and 

didn't know that something was true and published a 

harmful article, his professions of good faith are not 

likely to be very persuasive where their statement is so 

inherently improbable that only a reckless man would put 

it in circulation.

Sc that there Is a relationship between an

2 S
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objective standard» which is applicaDie if the record 

permits it» and the kind of subjective determination 

which the Jury had to make in order to maKe a finding of 

actual malice under -- under the court.

New» the test that this court has laid down — 

It is statec various ways» but always comes out -- one 

way it’s stated is subjective belief in probable 

falsity. It is what the state of mind of a publisher 

Is. That's why -- That's why the attack —

QUESTIONS But you —

MR. LLOYD; — which the petitioner's make 

upon this record is so inherently flawed. They would — 

they're asking — they're asking the appellate court to 

do something which —

QUESTION; Do you view the jury verdict here 

as having found that the newspaper actually knew the 

story was false or that it acted in reckless cisregaro 

and didn't —

MR. LLOYD; I view it as in the alternative.

I think on this set of facts anyone who was at that 

trial would have believed that Jim Blount and Pam Long 

and those people who decided to publish this article 

knew it was false. Only a reckless could have — could 

have believed otherwise.

And I'll tell you why. The argument has been
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made here that» after all» negligence Is not enough to 

allow a public figure to prevail under the hew York 

Times. And I don't -- I don't dispute that.

What we're talking about is the kind of 

evidence we adduced at this trial* that after being told 

by all six people who were interviewee at this late 

night conference» that no» Dan Connaughton dien't make 

any such statements.

And after -- after having known that Al ice 

Thompson was a lady with a psychiatric history* a ^ 

criminal record, a motive to lie» and other -- and other 

basis to believe she was undesirable» the decisionmakers 

consciously avoided talking to Patsy Stephens» who could 

have corroborated what this lady said, the consciously 

avoided I i stening to the tapes of that meeting that was 

held at Connaughton's house which brought along, asked 

for — which Connaughton said, “Here they are. Listen 

to the tapes. hake up your mind."

That is not negligence. That is perverse, 

premeditated ignorance. I'm going to stick my head in 

the sand so nobody can prove I knew it because if I ask 

one more question, I'm going to find out something 

that's going to keep me from running the article I'm 

determined to run in oraer to ruin Dan Connaughton.

That's not negligence, if this Court please.
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That's what distinguishes this from New York limes ana

from St. Amant» because by any test or uncer any 

standard 1 would have brought this case — ana 1 believe 

that a properly Instr uc tea jury hearing this evidence 

would have founc that actual malice was proved by clear 

and convincing evidence.

Then we have all these admissions. The author 

of the article» Pam Long said» "I made no decision as to 

whether what she said was true when I ran the article." 

Jim Blount said» "We didn't determine whether what shie 

said was true." Ana then — and then the newspaper’s 

lawyer said it at the pre-publication conference» he was 

told it was all a matter of misinterpretation.

That's not negligence. Tnat is the most 

e g r eg i ous k i nd of —

QLES T IONS You're defending tne judgment below 

In Topra» I guess.

MR. LLOYD; I'm defenuing the judgment below 

in Topra and the opinion of the court of appeals. 1 was 

not oblivious to what I tnought the requirements of Bose 

were when this case went to the court of appeals» was 

briefed and argued. And I was — I was overwhelmed at 

the exhaustive treatment — scrutiny of that record 

which the Sixth Circuit gave it.” And it seemed to me 

that — that the Sixth Circuit went beyona what this

3L
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court reaulres in Bose. It certainly was entirely 

f a I th f u I —

QUESTION; rthat about the standard that 

(inaudible) — how about its ae f i n i t i on of malice? How 

do you think it defined the actual ira I i ce ?

MR. LLOYD; I think it defined the actual 

malice as reckless — knowledge of probable falsity or 

reckless aisregard for the truth. The Sixth Circuit has 

been attacked on the ground that it used a prurience — 

its prurience standard that the plurality in Curtis ,, 

Publishing laid down. That is nonsense. But I don't —

QUESTION; keI I » saying those words and 

(inaudible) used reckless disregard.

MR. LLOYD; But that is said — that 

demonstrates reckless disregard for the truth. In other 

words» a massive quantum of circumstantial evidence — 

and» by the way» all circumstantial evidence is evidence 

on which inferences are drawn. As an old time trial 

lawyer» I have as much trouble as Justice Scalia does 

deciding the difference between a fact ana an inference.

But this massive record of circumstantial 

evidence of I want to put my head in the sano because I 

don't want to know why 1 can't run this article, 

certainly acds up. That is -- is an extreme departure 

from journalistic practice. No question. Ana it does
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demonstrate actual malice.

I would think — I would not be afraid to ask 

this Court to say — to affirm this judgment if the 

standard were beyond a reasonable doubt» as Justice 

Scalia said» that he thought it might well be in tact In 

Liberty Lobby. There has never been in any case» 

including Saturaay Evening Post or Curtis — Curtis 

Publishing» rather» v. Butts» as massive a record of 

knowledge of falsity ana then reckless disregard tor the 

truth as we showed» as we presented» as the court of ^ 

appeals looked at» and as is before this Court.

And I've never argued here before» but 1 never 

thought I 'd be here arguing the weight of the evidence. 

This is unique to a public figure libel case» and I'm 

not complaining about it.

My colleague has said a lot of things that 1 

frankly don't understand. I think I understand Bose. I 

agree with Chief Justice about Bose. But that doesn't 

matter. I couIo win this case under hew York Times 

alone. That's — or St. Amant or -- alI the case law 

combined distill it out that Dan Connaughton make the 

requisite showing necessary to get a verdict to sustain 

—- said he nrade admissions ana confessions.

That's absolute nonsense. Dan Connaughton was 

brought into a meeting where he was tola the endorsement

3
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of the newspaper might be on the line. And he was 

asked» first of all» "Did you say this? Did you say 

that? Did you say you were going to blackmail a 

judge?" No. No. Absolutely not. The denials were 

flat» unequ i vocab I e» absolute.

Then he was asked to speculate as why this 

lady may have said these things. Now» a more seasoned 

Dolitician would have saia» "No* I'm not going to play 

that game." He didn't. In good faith he tried to 

figure out why she might have saia it. ^

And that's all there was to it. But in no 

case can what this man said be equated to admissions of 

anything. And 1 frankly submit respectfully that Judge 

Guy got disoriented when he wrote the dissenting opinion 

and based it on those statements and said -- and said 

that they were admissions. They weren't admissions of 

anything. Askea the man to speculate and the man 

speculatea. And that's all there is to that.

Sc» coming aown finally» the esoteric 

considerations are interesting» and I will say frankly 1 

quite got lost in some of the colloquy between the court 

and my colleague on some of these abstractions. I'm an 

old fashioned trial lawyer. 1 know what evidence is. I 

know what interest is. I know what you argue to a 

jury. I tried this case.
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A motion was made rather t. i nr, i d I y for a 

directed verdict Cut Judge Rubin said —

QUESTION; Mr. Lloydy could I interrupt you 

for just a moment?

MR. LLOYD; — well* I'm not going to listen 

to that; I will overrule it.

QUESTION; How ao you deal with the fact that 

the dissenting opinion below discussed the interview 

with your client at great length and the majority 

virtually Ignored It? Anoy rea I Iyy on almost each paint 

that tends to look unfavorably toward your client there 

Is at least some factual oasis on each of those isolated 

points.

MR. LLOYD; Welly Justice Stephens I can't 

tell you why Juoge Guy didn't agree with Jucge Krupansky 

and Judge Keith. All I can tell you is that I think 

Krupansky saw Judge Guy's characterization as a 

mischaracterIza11 on and -- and he Identified it as just 

a way of locking at evidence in the wrong way.

My answer to youy I guessy is that — that 

version of the evidencey that contention that my client 

admitted al I of this was argued to the jury y and they 

didn't buy it. They didn't believe that that's what 

happened based upon their —

QUESTION; Noy out the issue —

3b
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MR. LLOYD; — review of the all the evidence .

QUESTION; The issue isn't whetner it 

happened» but whether those statements macie by your 

client ano transcribed provided the newspaper with a 

sufficient basis for — for running the story.

MR. LLOYD; Well» and Judge Guy thought they

did.

QUESTION; Yeah.

MR. LLOYD; And the majority thought they 

didn't. Ano I think that the majority was right ano^the 

— to say the judge was wrong» respectful ly.

QUESTION; 1 mean» some — the promise of tne 

Florida trip» and he admits they talked about going down 

to Hilton Head cr Florida» anu the promise of a job.

And admits that it was a oeIi shop or a gourmet or an 

ice cream s hop .

I mean» you're right if you got the veroict 

before the jury» but —

MR. LLOYD; You see» what -- where Judge Guy 

missed the point. And I admire him and I like him» but 

I must say respectfully he missed the point» and I told 

him this privately. He — He didn't understand that the 

gravamen of the charge were published. Tne statements 

made by the Tnompson woman were that Dan Connaugh ton got 

these two wcmen at his home» he had his tape recorders*
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and he turned them off ana he made a lot of promises and 

offers to Induce them to testify. he turnea the tape 

back on and he got their statements.

Ncw» that all this was done as an inducement 

to get testimony. Then he said» I'm going to blackmail 

a Judge» and then he got mao» when that didn't work — 

and made these charges. Now» that's an enormously —

QUESTION} Yes» but he --

MR. LLOYD; -- hurtful thing to say. Now» nis 

admissions» If Your Honor please» did not go to any o„f 

those things. All he said was that» Gne time when 1 

came to the house my wife was talking to these lauies 

about something and somebody may have interpreted 

something. As to whether —

QLESTIONJ Yes» but Isn't it — it is true* is 

it not* that the interview lasted much longer than the 

tape?

MR. LLOYD; That I don't know.

QUESTION; That's the impression I got that — 

and that the stuff that was in dispute is what happened 

on the tape — was not turned on.

MR. LLOYD; Well» but you see» my client said 

to the Journal News people at that interview» "See for 

yourself. Play the tapes. You'll hear." Anc the 

head-In-the-sana took over. They didn't want to play

3 a
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the tapes

New, the jury heard the tapes and they nearu 

Dan C onna ug hto n 's voice on the tapes. They also heard 

all the people who were at that meeting, including a 

lady who herself worked for the Journal News and her 

husband, the deputy fire chief, say, we were there the 

whole time and the man never said anything like that.

At that point I think, in my humble opinion, 

when the Journal News received that report from those 

people, that should have oeen the end of the inquiry., A 

responsible newspaper would have said, Okay, call this 

one off. Ard I think -- far beyond that — that's when 

he got into reckless regard and that's why the jury 

brought In a verdict for the plaintiff, and it was 

upheld by the Sixth Circuit.

Now, I've said a lot of things in my brief. 

Aside from affirming the judgment, the Petitioner really 

asks you enact a rule of absolute immunity for — for 

the press against — against litigation by public 

figures. And If you reverse this judgment, I think the 

signal that goes out wiII be, look, public figures can’t 

win libel cases) give up) there's no way to win. The 

rule exists, put it exists as honored in a breach Zb 

years after New York Times was announced.

I urge this Court to give it some vitality,
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make it mean something. here is a Plaintiff that won a 

case against — if 1 may use the term from c e se gr eg at i o n 

litigation — against a loadeo game board. He climbed 

over all these obstacles ana prevailed because his 

evidence was massive and his cause was just. And the 

court of appeals affirmed. That's all any court of 

appeals could ever be asked to do» is what the Sixth 

Circuit has done in this case.

It has been my very great pleasure to argue to 

this Court. Thank you very much. ,,

QUESTION; Thank you» Mr. Lloyd.

Mr. Levine» you have five minutes remaining.

REBUTTAL ARGUMENT OF LEE LEVINE 

ON BEHALF OF PETITIONERS 

MR. LEVINE; I'd like just to address a couple

of po i n ts .

First, in response to Justice Stephens' 

quest ion of Mr. Lloyd» it is indisputably true ana one 

of those undisputed facts in this record that a 

reviewing court should credit that this — the tape 

recordings of which Mr. Lloyd refers run two hours ana 

20 minutes. by the shortest estimate of any of the 

participants in that all-night meeting, that meeting 

lasted four hours. That means that tnere is, by my 

count, an hour ano 40 minutes that is unaccounted for.
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Sc* I istening to the tapes* In my view* Is an 

incredible red herring in this case. The tape that 

ouaht to be listenea to* Your Honors* is the tape of the 

interview that the Journal News conducted with Dan 

Connaughton* the one that Justice Stephens was talking 

about. There is a complete transcript of that 

tape-recorded interview in the Joint Appendix. We 

understand that the tape recording itself remains in the 

custody of the cistrict court but is avallable to this 

Court upon request.

QLESTION: what about talking to Ms.

Stephens? That’s — That’s what I really can't 

understand? Why not talk to the sister before you go to 

the story ?

MR. LEVINE: Your Honor* it is undisputed we 

did not talk to her and it would nave been a better 

story if we had. But when you take that one fact and 

all the others that Mr. Lloyd -- pure facts --

QLESTIOhi It would have been a ncn-story if 

you had* not a better story* because she contradicted 

everything her sister said.

MR. LEVINE: Your Honor* with ail due respect 

I think that if you read Patsy Stephens' testimony in 

the trial of this case* which is the best indication we 

have of what she would have said had she been

A 1
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Interviewed» she does not deny. She says* in fact» that 

it's all a matter of how you interpret it. It's how a 

person feels within. When someone gives you something 

out of their heart» that's not — I don't view that as a 

promise or an offer.

QUESTION; That — that isn't a denial that 

there was an offer by —

MR. LEVINE; It Is — it is a denial that she 

Interpreted it as an offer.

QIESTIOn; As not? Yes. It's a aenial thait

she did.

MR. LEVINE; But it — but it doesn't bear at 

all on the question of whether or not those statements 

were made —

QlES T10 hi Weil» what did — what do we do 

with that testimony? Is that a fact or an inference?

Do I — do I take to be a denial that it occurred or not 

a denial that It occurred? Is that something I give the 

jury the benefit of the doubt on or do I aecioe that tor 

myself?

MR. LEVINE; Justice Scalia» on this record 

you take the position that Patsy Stephens testified at 

trial that she did not believe she was promised anything

QUESTION; Yeah.
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MR. LEVINE; — at that time. Ana that is a 

fact that you weigh in the balance. but» even given 

that» and that is concedealy the most harmful piece of 

evidence in this record -- although I would point the 

Court to statements in cases from St. Amant v. Thompson 

that failure to investigate does not constitute actual 

malice — that an independent review of this record can 

leave no doubt that the expression at Issue here is 

protected by the First Amendment.

The article at issue» not the most oefama to,ry 

interpretations of it that Mr. Lloya would have you 

believe -- the article itself is a fair and accurate 

account both of Alice Thompson’s statements and of Mr. 

and Mrs. Connaughton’s responses to them. The article 

references conversations that Mr. Connaughton concedes 

took place and subjects tnat he concedes were 

discussed. The article was disseminated in the midst of 

a hot I y~contested election campaign.

QUESTION; Well» then where is the falsity?

MR. LEVINE; Your Honor» 1 see no falsity in 

this story. Ana it seems to me that if you look at tnls 

article» the article that was actually written» it 

contains nothing that I would call a material false 

statement. But this jury found falsity» anc we sought 

independent review only of the actual malice inquiry.
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So I'm here on the question of actual malice* not 

falsity.

What happened here was that this newspaper 

neutral ly Dut before the voters both the charges made by 

Alice Thompson and the responses of the Connaughtons to 

them. It did It unvarnished* without taking sides* 

without crediting one interpretation or the other.

That's no t —

QUESTION; Can you oo that? Can you put 

forward charges that you know are irresponsible? T hait 

you — suppose — suppose they knew the charges were 

false* that wouldn't be a defense* would it* that you 

put forward the false charges and you also put forwara 

his denial? You can't do that, can you?

MR. LEVINES If there was — If there was 

evidence like in the Cantrell case that tnis newspaper 

knew it was false?

QUESTION; Right. That's no good.

MR. LEVINE; Unaer the actual malice —

MR. LLOYD; Okay.

MR. LEVINE; — standard that's no good.

QUESTION; Okay. What if you have reason to 

suspect very gravely that it's false but you aon't 

bother to check up. Does the situation change? You can 

say, Well* you know* I really think it's a pack of lies
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but I don't know for sure and I'm not going to check.

Can you do that so long as you put in the other side?

MR. LEVINE; I missed the first part of — of

your —

QLESTIONJ Ue I I , you're -- 

MR. LEVINE; — what you were -- 

QUESTION; — not sure it's false but you 

suspect It's false. But you say» I'm not going to check 

any further.

MR, LEVINE. Your Honor, in Garrison v. ^ 

Louisiana, a jury Instruction that said effectively tnat 

was held to be unconstitutional — that you had to have 

a firm enough reason to believe that it was true. Ana 

that, this Court held, was not enough, you have to have 

a high degree of awareness of probable falsity. That's 

the definition of actual malice.

CHIEF JUSTICE REHNQUIST; Thank you, Mr.

Lev ine.

The case is submitted.

(thereupon, at l;37 o'clock p.m., the case in 

the a bo ve-entit I eo matter was submitted.)
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